**RECEIVED**

**Oct 02 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM THE CLARENDON COUNTY  
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

THE HONORABLE BRIAN M. GIBBONS, CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

---

DOCKET NO. 2024-002086

---

In the Matter of the Care and Treatment of Alonza V. Gibson, Jr.,

Appellant

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Kindle K. Johnson  
S.C. Bar No. 72926  
K. Johnson Law Firm  
223 E Main St, Suite 500  
Rock Hill, SC 29730  
803.329.1900

***ATTORNEY FOR THE APPELLANT***

#

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. Did the trial court in a sexually violent predator trial commit abuse of discretion by allowing the State's expert to present highly prejudicial and minimally probative hearsay testimony detailing multiple unproven, denied, and in some cases expunged or dismissed allegations of Appellant's purported violent and sexual criminal misconduct simply because the hearsay allegations were relied on to form the expert's opinion?
  
- II. Did the trial court err in overruling the Appellant's objection and refusing to issue a curative instruction, such that the trial was infected with unfairness and the Appellant was denied due process, when the State's closing argument improperly suggested that hearsay allegations including those from dismissed charges and unconvicted offenses were substantiated when the underlying hearsay allegations were used by expert witnesses solely for the purposes of conducting psychological evaluations.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter concerns a civil commitment proceeding initiated by the State of South Carolina against Mr. Alonza Gibson (“Appellant”) pursuant to S.C. Code § 44-48-10, *et seq.* of the South Carolina Sexually Violent Predator Act. On or about December 21, 2022, the State filed a petition seeking to commit Mr. Gibson as a sexually violent predator. The circuit court found probable cause and ordered Mr. Gibson to undergo a full psychological evaluation. He complied and the matter was set for trial.

Beginning on December 2, 2024, a jury trial took place in the Clarendon Court of Common Pleas. The Honorable Brian Gibbons presided. Mr. Gibson was represented by Kindle Kay Johnson of K. Johnson Law Firm (“Appellant”) and the State was represented by Christopher Runyan of the South Carolina Attorney General’s Office (“State”). (R. p. 2.)

On December 4, 2024, following deliberations, the jury unanimously found beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Gibson is a sexually violent predator. Based upon the jury’s verdict, the court issued an order committing Mr. Gibson to a secure treatment facility. (R. p. 304, line 1-p. 305, line 15.)

This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

- I. Did the trial court in a sexually violent predator trial commit abuse of discretion by allowing the State's expert to present highly prejudicial and minimally probative hearsay testimony detailing multiple unproven, denied, and in some cases expunged or dismissed allegations of Appellant's purported violent and sexual criminal misconduct simply because the hearsay allegations were relied on to form the expert's opinion?

### A. Relevant Facts

This matter was brought pursuant to a sexually violent predator petition filed against Appellant Alonza Gibson ("Appellant") in Clarendon County, South Carolina. Appellant had one qualifying sexually violent offense for Criminal Sexual Conduct Third Degree to which he pleaded guilty on September 12, 2013, in Clarendon County, South Carolina. (R. p. 217, lines 21-24; R. p. 103, line 10-p. 105, line 16; R. pp. 318-320).

During the case, Dr. Emily Gottfried conducted an independent forensic evaluation of Appellant of at the behest of the State. (R. p. 82, line 1- p. 84, line 21.) Pursuant to her evaluation, Dr. Gottfried diagnosed Mr. Gibson with sexual sadism disorder and other specified personality disorder with antisocial and psychopathic traits, and opined that he met the criteria to be considered a sexually violent predator. (R. p. 124, line 13; R. p. 125, line 14; R. p. 126, lines 11-22; R. p. 148, lines 1-7; R. p. 157, lines 19; R. p. 162, line 4.)

During Appellant's trial, Dr. Gottfried testified at length about his criminal history. As part of her testimony, Dr. Gottfried detailed hearsay statements and descriptions of separate criminal incidents purportedly involving Appellant. Several of these incidents included charges that were later dismissed or expunged, and in each case, denied by Appellant. Dr. Gottfried had no personal knowledge of any of Appellant's offenses, and acknowledged that some of the information may not have been accurate. (R. p. 166, line 25- p. 167, line 17.) Nonetheless, over Appellant

objections, Dr. Gottfried was permitted to testify to the hearsay details because the information was used to make her clinical diagnoses and form her opinion as to whether Appellant met the criteria of a sexually violent predator. (R. p. 169, line 18-p. 170, line 18; R. p. 93, line 2-p. 94, line 19; R. p. 100, lines 2-15; R. p. 103, line 12- p. 104, line 9; R. p. 106, lines 11-23.)

In particular, Dr. Gottfried testified about the following incidents:

**2013 Qualifying Sexually Violent Offense and Partially Dismissed Offenses:** In 2013, Appellant pleaded guilty to the sexually violent offense of Criminal Sexual Conduct Third Degree in Clarendon County, South Carolina. He also pleaded guilty to Assault and Battery Second Degree and Threatening the Life of a Public Official. Charges for Criminal Sexual Conduct First Degree, Kidnapping, Strong Armed Robbery, and Assault and Battery First Degree were dismissed.

Dr. Gottfried testified:

[O]fficers were dispatched to Clarendon Memorial Hospital emergency department where a 17-year-old reported that she had been raped. She reported that she had been sitting under a tree at about 1:30 in the morning. A male stranger -- reported to be Mr. Gibson -- approached her, started talking to her, agreed to buy her a pack of cigarettes. At some point, they walk to an abandoned building where he pulled up her shirt, a fight ensued. Specifically it was reported that he struck her in the eye. When she tried to fight back, he choked her causing her to lose consciousness for some period of time. He attempted to remove her clothing and vaginally raped her. He covered her mouth during that because she was reportedly screaming.

(R. p. 105, line 19 – p. 106, line 25).

Appellant denied the allegations during his evaluation with Dr. Gottfried. She admitted in testimony, “He said this victim lied and said that he raped her. They had gotten into a physical altercation, but that she called rape, and they couldn’t prove it, which was confusing because he

pled guilty to this as a sexual offense, but wasn't clear in explaining that discrepancy.” (R. p. 104, line 10 – p. 107, line 10).

**2022 Partially Dismissed Offenses:** In 2022, Appellant pleaded guilty to Assault and Battery Second Degree in Lexington County, South Carolina. Charges for Criminal Sexual Conduct First Degree and Domestic Violence of a High and Aggravated Nature were dismissed.

Dr. Gottfried recounted:

This was a 41-year-old woman who reported that she got assaulted by her boyfriend of, I think she said, one to one-and-a-half months. She was walking, and he came up behind her, presented a knife, pushed her into a parking lot. Again, presented the knife, hit her with a closed fist, threw her to the ground, physically assaulted her while she was on the ground, vaginally raped her while she was on the ground. At the hospital, the records indicated that she had lacerations to her head. Her face was swollen... a laceration to her eye”

(R. p. 108, lines 11–25). When asked directly whether Mr. Gibson admitted to the allegations, Dr. Gottfried responded, “He denied that. He denied the sexual assault. I believe he admitted to the physical fight with the person.” (R. p. 194, lines 6–11).

**2019 Partially Dismissed Offenses:** In 2019, Appellant pleaded guilty to Assault and Battery First Degree in Sumter County. Charges for Burglary First Degree and other additional assault charges were dismissed.

Of these offenses, Dr. Gottfried testified, “Mr. Gibson was convicted for having an altercation with a 73-year-old woman at her house. She had visible injuries to her face, knots... swelling on her forehead. It was reported that she was profusely bleeding out of her nose.” (R. p. 97, line 10 – p. 98, line 14).

**2009 Dismissed Offenses:** In 2009, Appellant was arrested for Criminal Sexual Conduct First Degree, Kidnapping, and Assault and Battery of a High and Aggravated Nature in Manning, South Carolina. All charges were later dismissed and expunged.

Dr. Gottfried testified:

It was reported to police... that Mr. Gibson went to [the victim's] house and said somebody was looking for her. They started walking down the street, and he struck her on the side of the face with a wrench. She lost consciousness for some period of time. When she came to, he reportedly dragged her into a yard and pulled down her pants and raped her vaginally, anally, and orally... He said that if she told anyone, he would get his father's gun and shoot her, and then he fled the scene. She was transported to the hospital and had a rape kit completed.

(R. p. 98, line 20 – p. 104, line 9).

Dr. Gottfried admitted that during her evaluation of Appellant, he denied the misconduct allegations, including the sexual assaults. (R. p. 194, lines 3–11; R. p. 104, line 10- p. 107, line 10.) He also denied the incidents when evaluated by the South Carolina Department of Mental Health expert, Dr. Marie Gehle. (R. p. 217, line 11 – p. 218, line 6.)

## **B. Discussion**

Relevant evidence is defined as "evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." Rule 401, SCRE. All relevant evidence is admissible unless otherwise provide for by law. Rule 402, SCRE. However, relevant evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Rule 403, SCRE. Evidence is unfairly prejudicial if it has an undue tendency to suggest a decision based on emotion, character, or speculation, rather than the facts properly before the jury. State v.

Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 7, 545 S.E.2d 827, 830 (2001); Matter of Campbell, 427 S.C. 183, 193, 830 S.E.2d 14, 19 (2019); State v. Cartwright, 425 S.C. 81, 91, 819 S.E.2d 756, 761 (2018)).

South Carolina courts have looked at that admissibility of unconvicted conduct in sexually violent predator cases. In In the Matter of Ettel, a trial judge permitted an expert to testify in an SVP commitment proceeding about Ettel's prior unconvicted sexual offenses, over his objection. 377 S.C. 558, 559, 660 S.E.2d 285, 286 (Ct. App. 2008)). On appeal, this Court found that the details of prior, unconvicted sexual offenses were properly admitted by the trial court because they were relevant to the expert's diagnosis and opinion. Id. at 562, 660 S.E.2d at 288. This Court further held that the possibility of unfair prejudice did not substantially outweigh the probative value of the testimony. Id. at 563, 660 S.E.2d at 288.

The facts in the current case warrant a different resolution. Like Ettel, Appellant's prior offenses were also not convictions, some of them having even been expunged. However, the appellant in Ettel admitted to his prior unconvicted offenses; as such, there was an inherent assurance of the reliability of the underlying hearsay statements. In this case, Appellant denied the sexually violent allegations that were published to the jury. As such, the hearsay allegations against Appellant lacked the same reliability as the ones in Ettel. Without reliability, the challenged evidence had no relevance or probative value.

The State argued that the hearsay against Appellant was admissible under Rules 702 and 703 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence. "The admission of expert testimony is governed by Rule 702, SCRE, which provides: If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise. Expert testimony may be used to help the jury to determine a fact in issue

based on the expert's specialized knowledge, experience, or skill and is necessary in cases in which the subject matter falls outside the realm of ordinary lay knowledge.” See also, Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 445, 699 S.E.2d 169, 175 (2010)). Moreover, pursuant to Rule 703, SCRE, an expert witness is permitted to base an opinion on facts not within his firsthand knowledge so long as it is the type of information that is reasonably relied upon in the field to make opinions. State v. Hutto, 325 S.C. 221, 481 S.E.2d 432 (1997). Nonetheless, as articulated in Watson, even in circumstances where 702 and 703 applies, the trial court must still evaluate the proposed evidence for reliability. See Watson at 446, 699 S.E.2d 175 (citations omitted). (“Finally, the trial court must evaluate the substance of the testimony and determine whether it is reliable.”)

In this case, Dr. Gottfried went beyond what Rules 702 and 703 allow. Instead of briefly explaining the materials that informed her evaluation, she recited detailed out-of-court statements to the jury. She repeated serious allegations—including vaginal, anal, and oral rape; assault with a wrench; and choking to unconsciousness.<sup>1</sup> (R. p. 105, line 19 – p. 106, line 25; R. p. 194, lines 6–11; R. p. 97, line 10 – p. 98, line 14; R. p. 98, line 20 – p. 104, line 9.) These statements were denied by Appellant, were not introduced through witnesses, were not tested through cross-examination, and were presented solely under the justification that they contributed to her clinical opinion. (R. p. 169, line 18-p. 170, line 18; R. p. 93, line 2-p. 94, line 19; R. p. 100, lines 2-15; R. p. 103, line 12- p. 104, line 9; R. p. 106, lines 11-23.) As such, the evidence had limited probative value because it was denied, unverified, and for the most part, did not culminate in sexually violent convictions. Given that, the trial court abused its discretion by allowing the

---

<sup>1</sup> The record shows that the details of Appellant’s only qualifying conviction, a 2013 conviction for Criminal Sexual Conduct Third Degree, were that he struck his victim, choked her to unconsciousness and vaginally penetrated her. (R. p. 105, line 19 – p. 106, line 25; R. p. 217 lines 21-24; R. p. 104, line 10-p. 105, line 16; R. pp. 319-320).

hearsay testimony. The impact of Dr. Gottfried's hearsay testimony was substantial, and caused Appellant to experience significant prejudice. Accordingly, this Court should reverse the trial court's commitment order and remand the case for a new trial.

- II. Did the trial court err in overruling the Appellant's objection and refusing to issue a curative instruction, such that the trial was infected with unfairness and the Appellant was denied due process, when the State's closing argument improperly suggested that hearsay allegations including those from dismissed charges and unconvicted offenses were substantiated when the underlying hearsay allegations were used by expert witnesses solely for the purposes of conducting psychological evaluations.

#### A. Relevant Facts

Prior to this case being submitted to the jury, both parties made closing arguments pursuant to SCRCF, Rule 43(j). Mr. Runyan made the final rebuttal closing argument ("closing") for the State. In his closing, Mr. Runyan referenced Appellant's prior unconvicted sexual offense history, as testified to by the expert witnesses. He stated in part, "[Ms. Johnson] told you in these charges there was no evidence -- no evidence that he did these things, **but there was evidence**. Dr. Gottfried and Dr. Gehle talked about the records they reviewed, the law enforcement records, the incident reports, victim statements that they reviewed, where they got the details from, and they talked to us about them. **They didn't just make them up**. They came from those records that these doctors used, and typically use, and relied on in these high-stake evaluations." (emphasis added) (R. p. 281, lines 10-20.)

Ms. Johnson objected, arguing that Mr. Runyan's comments indicated that the past accusations against Appellant, ones that had been dismissed and never led to a conviction, were substantiated by evidence. And in so doing, Mr. Runyan made the accusations seem more reliable

and trustworthy than they really were. This misled the jury into giving those unproven claims more weight than they deserved. Ms. Johnson asked the court to issue curative instructions. (R. p. 283, line 9- p. 284, line 15.)

Mr. Runyan denied giving the impression that the records were reliable. He argued that both expert witnesses, Dr. Gehle and Dr. Gottfried, had reviewed the records to form their opinion. He pointed out that professionals in the field typically used those types of records, which included law enforcement, school, and mental health records, to help form their opinions. He also argued that Ms. Johnson had opened the door for his comments. (R. p. 284, line 18-p. 285, line 17.)

Ms. Johnson countered that the issue was not that the experts had used these records; but that Mr. Runyan's comments gave the impression that the accusations in the records were true, even though those records were never entered into evidence and didn't involve actual convictions. She insisted that the statements effectually amounted to bolstering the hearsay, thus giving the jury the impression that the records were valid and could be trusted.

The court, after some discussion, overruled Ms. Johnson's objection, agreeing with Mr. Runyan's point that the experts had already testified about relying on these records. (R. p. 285, line 24-p. 286, line 14.) Nonetheless, the court allowed Ms. Johnson to submit a potential curative instruction. She offered the following curative instruction for the court's consideration:

You may have heard testimony about criminal records. The only evidence you are to consider is the evidence before you. Hearsay testimony about records does not, in and of itself, validate a record or make it reliable.

(R. p. 287, lines 4-9.)

Mr. Runyan objected to the instruction, claiming that it incorrectly commented on the facts. (R. p. 287, lines 4-16.) The court then offered the following modification:

You may have heard testimony about criminal records. The only evidence you are to consider is before you. Hearsay testimony about records does not, in and of itself, validate a record or make it reliable.

(R. p. 289, lines 8-12.) Again, Mr. Runyan objected, arguing that the instruction told the jury to ignore what the experts said about the criminal records. (R. p. 289, lines 12-16.)

The court attempted another modification, before ultimately deciding not to give the curative instruction. (R. p. 289, lines 17-24.) The court further declined to allow Ms. Johnson more time to craft an alternative curative charge, but confirmed that the issue was protected for the record. (R. p. 289, line 23- p. 290, l. 15.)

## **B. Discussion**

The South Carolina Supreme Court has found that while prosecutors are expected to advocate zealously for the State, their arguments during closing must be confined to evidence in the record and the reasonable inferences drawn therefrom. See Fortune v. State, 428 S.C. 545, 552, 837 S.E.2d 37, 41 (2019) (quoting Berger v. United States, 295 U.S. 78, 88, 55 S. Ct. 629, 633, 79 L. Ed. 1314, 1321 (1935)). A prosecutor may vehemently argue, but the argument must remain tethered to the trial evidence. State v. Busse, 439 S.C. 104, 109, 886 S.E.2d 208, 211 (2023). Prosecutors may not insert their personal beliefs or vouch for the credibility of a witness, as doing so improperly influences the jury. Id. See also Fortune v. State, 428 S.C. 545, 552, 837 S.E.2d 37, 41 (2019) (finding that a solicitor’s improper comments about presenting the truth while accusing the defense of “manipulating” and “obscuring” the truth, were unsupported by evidence and so infected the trial with unfairness that it denied the defendant due process, warranting a new trial.)

Here, Mr. Runyan was essentially acting as a prosecutor for the State. As such, he was beholden to the same limitations of a prosecutor, including that his comments must be limited to the evidence in the record and reasonable inferences drawn therefrom.

As argued above, an expert witness may state an opinion based on facts not within his firsthand knowledge; however, the expert testimony does not itself establish that the out-of-court allegations are true.

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