RECEIVED

Oct 06 2025

SC Court of Appeals

ASTATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Clarendon County
The Honorable Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2024-002086

In the Matter of the Care and Treatment of
Alonza V. Gibson, Jr.,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

CHRISTOPHER RUNYAN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 104740

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. Judge Gibbons properly allowed the State's expert witness to testify about the underlying details of Appellant's sexual offenses that she considered in reaching her diagnoses and risk assessment.

Appellant contends Judge Gibbons erred in allowing Dr. Gottfried's testimony regarding the contents of official documents related to Appellant's sexually violent charges and convictions and refers to Dr. Gottfried's testimony regarding the underlying facts of his offenses as "extensive," "superfluous" and "not necessary" to the issue before the jury. This contention is not supported by the record or relevant case law.

Admissibility of Testimony Regarding Underlying Facts of Sex Offenses

"Because a 'person's dangerous propensities are the focus of the SVP Act,' consideration of "[p]ast criminal history is therefore directly relevant to establishing 44-48-30(1)(a),' which in turn bears directly on whether one suffers from a mental abnormality under section 44-48-30(1)(b)." *In re the Care & Treatment of Ettel*, 377 S.C. 558, 660 S.E.2d 285, 287-288 (Ct. App. 2008) (a "'person's dangerous propensities are the focus of the SVP Act.'"); *In re the Care and Treatment of Corley*, 353 S.C. 202, 577 S.E.2d 451, 453 [2003] (same). Prior sexual offenses may establish a "pattern of behavior of sexual assaults," which aids in the diagnosis of a mental abnormality and goes to the person's propensity to commit future sexual offenses. *Ettel*, S.E.2d at 288.

In sexual predator civil commitment cases, expert testimony regarding the underlying facts or data of charged or uncharged sexual offenses is "highly probative and helpful to the jury in explaining the basis of [the expert's] opinion that [a person] has a behavioral abnormality that makes him likely to engage in a predatory act of sexual violence.'" *In re Commitment of Renshaw*, 598 S.W.3d 303, 314 (Tex. App. 2020) (quoting *In re Commitment of Stuteville*, 463 S.W.3d 543,

556 [Tex. App. 2015]). The need to present evidence regarding the underlying facts of the sexual offenses, charged or uncharged, to explain the basis of the expert's opinion is great because without that evidence the jury would not hear about the person's pattern of sexual conduct, and the jury would not be basing its verdict on the full picture of the person's sexual deviance. *Id.* at 315.

In *State v. Floyd Y.*, 22 N.Y.3d 95, 2 N.E.3d 204 (2013), the court found that a significant number of jurisdictions take a flexible approach allowing the admission of "basis hearsay" in sexual predator commitment cases.

[B]asis hearsay does not come into evidence for its truth, but rather to assist the factfinder with its essential article 10 task of evaluating the experts' opinions. In order to assess an expert's testimony, the factfinder must understand the expert's methodology and the practice in the expert's field. In this case, for example, [the expert] testified that experts in her field "rely heavily upon witness statements, affidavits, [and] victim statements ... because in treatment there are issues of confronting a sexual offender with exactly what happened." Understanding her diagnosis and her treatment of Floyd Y. requires understanding the information she considered when making her diagnostic and treatment decisions. As our concurring colleagues concede, out-of-court statements are routinely admitted at trial for purposes other than to demonstrate their truth. Factfinders in article 10 trials cannot comprehend or evaluate the testimony of an expert without knowing how and on what basis the expert formed an opinion.

To the extent that a factfinder's assessment might turn on its acceptance of basis evidence as true, article 10 provides the respondent with an opportunity to challenge the State's expert by presenting a competing view of the basis evidence through the testimony of the respondent's expert.

Id., at 212-13 (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added); *see also State v. John S.*, 23 N.Y.3d 326, 15 N.E.3d 287, 300-01 (2014) (hearsay at issue was derived from documentary sources, including complaints from five different victims attacked within a 32-day time period involving a strikingly similar pattern, which supported trial court's finding the information was sufficiently reliable).

Similarly, in South Carolina expert testimony setting out the basis for the expert's opinion, including information from police reports, witness statements and other official documents, is admissible in SVPA cases to assist the factfinder when evaluating the efficacy of the expert's methodology and opinions. In *Ettel*, the expert testified about underlying details of Ettel's sexually violent offense, which included binding, gagging and choking the victim, raping her and forcing her to perform oral sex on him. She also testified about the underlying facts of unconvicted sexual offenses Ettel told her about during the interview, as well as verbal information she received from police officers regarding the underlying facts and possible sexual component of Ettel's prior murder conviction. 660 S.E.2d at 286-287.

In finding the trial court did not abuse its discretion by admitting the testimony regarding the underlying facts of Ettel's sex offenses, the court of appeals found the testimony was relevant because the expert "relied on them in evaluating Ettel's need for and likelihood of success in treatment as well as his ability to control his behavior in the future." *Id.* at 288. The court further found that the prior sexual offenses established a pattern of sexual behavior that was significant because the expert testified that future behavior could only be predicted based on past behavior. Finally, the court found that the prejudicial effect of the evidence did not substantially outweigh its probative value because the expert used the information to develop her opinion regarding Ettel's ability to control his behavior and to diagnose his paraphilia. *Id.* See also, *In the Matter of the Care and Treatment of Manigo*, 389 S.C. 96, 697 S.E. 2d 629, 634 (2010) (expert's testimony about information she received from Manigo's treatment provider was admissible because she used it to form the basis for her opinion that Manigo was a SVP); *Corley*, 577 S.E.2d at 453-453 (details of sex offenses set forth in indictments were admissible to show the basis of the expert's opinion that Corley was likely to engage in future acts of sexual violence).

In this case, Dr. Gottfried's testimony regarding the underlying facts of Appellant's sex offenses was neither extensive, unduly graphic or unnecessary. As a threshold matter, Dr. Gottfried testified the official documents she reviewed (i.e., police reports, medical reports, probation documents) were the type of records used and relied on by practitioners in her field to perform the type of assessment she performed in this case. She then explained exactly why the information from those documents was important to forming an opinion regarding Appellant. She stated that an evaluator is looking for patterns of behavior and offense/victim characteristics to try and determine the reason for the offenses and the characteristics for possible future offenses/victims. (R., pp. 93-94).

When Dr. Gottfried testified about Appellant's sexual offenses, she made it clear she got the underlying facts of those offenses from official records. She never vouched for the accuracy of the information, just that the records contained the information. Indeed, when Dr. Gottfried was asked during cross-examination about relying on the records, the following colloquy occurred:

Appellant: Your report is based on either allegations on paper, conversations with [Appellant], various tests, and assessment tools, right?

Dr. Gottfried: Right. My opinions are based on all of the collateral information I received and officially reported documents, records, clinic interview, the testing, yes.

Appellant: But not personal knowledge?

Dr. Gottfried: Correct.

Appellant: And, in that case, some of the things that you've looked at to make your assessment might not be accurate, correct?

Dr. Gottfried: Certainly. I mean the information is only as good as the report itself, I guess.

(R., p. 167). Thus, contrary to endorsing the reliability of the records as Appellant contends, Dr. Gottfried acknowledged that the information in the records might be inaccurate.

Appellant concedes the information at issue was “not asserted for the truth of the matter.” (Brief of Appellant, p. 14). This concession seriously undermines his contention that the information was inadmissible hearsay. By definition, hearsay is “a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted.” Rule 801(c), SCRE.¹

Appellant further concedes “it was made clear that the hearsay testimony was admissible because it helped Dr. Gottfried identify patterns, score risk assessments, make a diagnosis, and reach her opinion of Appellant’s eligibility as a sexually violent predator.” (Brief of Appellant, p. 14). Pursuant to Rule 703, SCRE, the facts and data on which an expert bases an opinion may be those “perceived by or made known to the expert at or before the hearing, and if the information is of a type experts in the particular field reasonably rely on in forming opinions or inferences, the information need not be admissible in evidence.” Again, Dr. Gottfried specifically testified that the records she relied on were the type of documents experts in the field relied on in conducting similar evaluations. (R., pp. 83-85).

Appellant’s interpretation of Rule 703 would merely allow an expert to list the records she considered, but she could not testify about what was important in those records or how the information from those records factored into her opinions. That limitation has never been the law in South Carolina.

An expert witness may state an opinion based on facts not within his firsthand knowledge. He may base his opinion on information, whether or not admissible, made available to him before the hearing if the information is of the type reasonably relied upon in the field to make opinions. Also, an expert may testify as to matters

¹Even if the information is hearsay, the documents Dr. Gottfried referenced are public records and reports, which is an exception to the hearsay rule, and the documents themselves could be submitted as evidence (subject to a Rule 403 analysis). See Rule 803(8), SCRE. For argument purposes in this case, however, the State will assume the information is hearsay.

of hearsay for the purpose of showing what information he relied on in giving his opinion of value.

Hundley ex rel. Hundley v. Rite Aid of S.C., Inc., 339 S.C. 285, 529 S.E.2d 45, 50 (Ct. App. 2000) (internal citations omitted). “Expert witness testimony is a widely-recognized exception to the rule against hearsay testimony.” *Id.* at 51 (quoting *United States v. Williams*, 447 F.2d 1285, 1290 (5th Circuit, 1971 (en banc))).

The rationale for this exception to the rule against hearsay is that the expert, because of his professional knowledge and ability, is competent to judge for himself the reliability of the records and statements on which he bases his expert opinion. Moreover, the opinion of expert witnesses must invariably rest, at least in part, upon sources that can never be proven in court. An expert's opinion is derived not only from records and data, but from education and from a lifetime of experience. *Thus, when the expert witness has consulted numerous sources, and uses that information, together with his own professional knowledge and experience, to arrive at his opinion, that opinion is regarded as evidence in its own right and not as hearsay in disguise.*

Id. at 51-52 (quoting *Williams*, 447 F.2d at 1290) (emphasis in original).

In SVPA cases, experts may consider both convicted and unconvicted criminal offenses when diagnosing an individual with a mental abnormality for the purposes of section 44-48-30(1)(b). See *White v. State*, 375 S.C. 1, 649 S.E.2d 172, 175-76 (Ct. App. 2007) (finding the legislature did not intend to limit the word “offense” to charges resulting in convictions when determining whether an offender is an SVP); *Ettel*, 660 S.E.2d at 287 (explaining an expert witness may consider “both convictions and offenses not resulting in convictions as long as they are relevant to the determination of whether a person is a[n] [SVP]”). It is necessary for the expert to testify about the underlying facts of the person’s offenses in order to explain how the expert arrived at his opinion. *Ettel* at 287.

Dr. Gottfried testified repeatedly that it was necessary to consider the facts of Appellant’s sexual offenses, including those for which he was not convicted, in order to determine if there was

a pattern to Appellant's offense behavior and the characteristics of his victims, and she only relayed the offense facts that she considered important in reaching her opinions regarding Appellant's diagnoses and risks for future offending. Her diagnosis of sexual sadism was based on the pattern of violence and the "really similar" characteristics of the sexual offenses. (R., pp. 93-109, 122-125).

It is now well established that experts in SVPA cases may testify about the underlying facts of the person's sexual offenses on which the expert relied in reaching her opinions about whether the person meets the criteria for commitment under the SVPA. This is not absolute, and the expert's testimony should be centered around the information the expert found important for diagnoses and risk assessment purposes. That is exactly what Dr. Gottfried did in the case, and Judge Gibbons did not abuse his discretion by allowing the testimony.

II. Judge Gibbons did not abuse his discretion by denying Appellant's request for a curative jury instruction regarding a portion of the State's closing argument.

Appellant contends Judge Gibbons abused his discretion by denying his request for a curative instruction regarding a purported implication during the State's rebuttal argument that the records from dismissed and unconvicted offenses were substantiated. He further contends this "infected" the trial "with unfairness" and denied Appellant due process. These contentions are meritless and not supported by the record.

To warrant reversal, a trial judge's refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant. *State v. Burkhardt*, 350 S.C. 252, 565 S.E.2d 298, 303 (2002). "Failure to give requested jury instructions is not prejudicial error where the instructions given afford the proper test for determining the issues." *Id.* at 304. It is axiomatic that "[j]udges shall not charge juries in respect to matters of fact, but shall declare the law." S.C. Const. art. V, § 21. An appellate court will not reverse the trial judge's decision regarding a jury charge absent an abuse of discretion. *State v. Mattison*, 388 S.C. 469, 697 S.E.2d 578, 583–84 (2010).

As a threshold matter, the State's statements during its rebuttal argument were in direct response to statements made during Appellant's closing argument to the effect that there was "no evidence" Appellant committed the unconvicted offenses. (R., pp. 270-271). The State's response merely alluded to the fact that both experts had testified about the details of the offenses based on "the records they reviewed, the law enforcement records, the incident reports, the victim statements that they reviewed," which was evidence regarding the allegations against Appellant. (R., p. 281). "When a party argues something in closing, it is not error for the opposing party to respond in kind." *Dial v. Niggel Assocs., Inc.*, 333 S.C. 253, 509 S.E.2d 269, 271 (1998); *see also State v. Singleton*, 284 S.C. 388, 326 S.E.2d 153, 156 (1985), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Torrence*, 305

S.C. 45, 406 S.E.2d 315 (1991) (“We have held argument of counsel is not so inflammatory as to constitute a ground for reversal where counsel responds in kind to previous argument of opposing counsel.”).

Further, Appellant does not contend the jury charges Judge Gibbons gave the jury were erroneous in any way. Judge Gibbons appropriately charged the jury to only consider evidence from the witness stand and any exhibits submitted during the trial. Significantly, he then charged the jury:

Now, you heard closing arguments from the lawyer, and like I told you at the outset, opening statements from lawyers and closing arguments from lawyers is (sic) not evidence. Arguments of counsel are a beneficial part of every trial. You should remember that statements made by counsel are not evidence.

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